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DECI SI ON

This case is before the State Personnel Board (SPB or Board)
for determnation after the Board rejected the Proposed Decision of
the Adm ni strative Law Judge (ALJ) in the appeal of Jose L. Flores,
Jr. (appellant or Flores). Appel lant was dismssed from his
position as Service Assistant-Mintenance (Intermttent) with the
Departnment of Transportation (Departnment or Caltrans) at Ponona
primarily for fabricating an offensive statement about his co-
worker and then attributing this statenent to another co-worker;
failing to follow his supervisor's instructions; and being

di scourteous to a court referral worker.

! Appel | ant was, however, represented at the hearing before the
Admnistrative Law Judge by David L. Ham | t on, Busi ness
Representative, OQperating Engi neers, Local 501.



(Flores continued - Page 2)

The ALJ who heard the appeal sustained the dismssal. The
Board rejected the AL)'s Proposed Decision, deciding to hear the
case itself, because of concern regarding the validity of the ALJ's
finding of sexual harassnent. After a review of the entire record,
including the transcript and the witten and oral argunents
presented to the Board, the Board dismsses the charge of unlaw ul
di scrim nation, i ncluding sexual har assnent, but sust ai ns
appel lant's dism ssal on other grounds as set forth bel ow

FACTUAL SUMVARY

Fabri cated O fensive Speech

Appellant was appointed a Service Assistant-Mintenance
(Intermttent) on February 9, 1991. At the tinme of the incidents
that form the basis of this adverse action, My through August of
1992, appellant was working under the supervision of Gary Haney, a
Cal trans Mai nt enance Supervi sor. Christine L. (hereinafter "L")
and Robert Sonora were also nenbers of Haney's crew but, in My
1992, Sonora was off work on sick leave. L, Sonora and appel | ant
had worked together for several years w thout incident. O
May 20, 1992, L and appell ant were working together fixing a ground
val ve. Appellant appeared hesitant to tell L sonmething. He stated
that he did not know if he should speak but he intinmated that he
wanted to be fair to L and | et her know what was going on and that
it was not fair. L urged appellant to speak.

Appel lant then told L that Sonora had told himthat every
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time he (Sonora) saw L bent over working, Sonora wanted to have
anal sex with her.? Appellant also attributed to Sonora a coment
referring to L as "two-ton titty."

L testified that she originally believed appellant when he
told her of Sonora's alleged statenent. She testified that
appel I ant sounded very sincere.

L reported appellant's coments to Haney who agreed to
investigate. Appellant initially told Haney that Sonora nmade these
comments about L. Wen Sonora returned to work a few days |ater,
however, and Haney confronted him Sonora denied naking the
stat enents. Haney then confronted appell ant. Appel | ant changed
his story and admtted to Haney that he had lied and that he
hinself nmade up the offensive coments and attributed them to
Sonor a.

Appell ant al so told Haney that his purpose in nmaking the false
comments was to get in tight with Haney and the crew in order to
receive a pronotion involving the supervision of others. In
addition, appellant told Sonora that he had "started some shit"
that would get himin tight wth Haney and the | ead worker.

Wen L heard that Sonora denied making the statenent, she
testified that she, in effect, did not know who was |ying. L

testified, "I don't trust anybody anynore."

2 The exact words appellant attributed to Sonora were that he
wanted to "fuck her in the ass and fuck her hard."
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Packer Truck | nci dent

As part of its regular road work, the Departnent assigns court
referral workers to help clean up. A court referral worker is a
person assigned by the court to do |abor as part of his or her
crimnal sentence. On August 10, 1992, appellant was told to
assist Sonora who was supervising court referral workers.
Appellant was to operate the packer truck by |oading and packing
bushes. Appellant went to the location, but instead of assisting
Sonora, he occupi ed hinself painting and polishing the truck.

Appellant admtted his actions. He explained that Haney did
not |ike anyone hanging around, so he occupied hinself wth
"detailing" the truck

Court Referral Wrker Incident

According to Departnment policy, only crew |leaders holding a
civil service rating of Caltrans M ntenance Wrker, or above, nmay
supervise court referral workers. In accord with this policy,
appel l ant and other crew nenbers had been directed not to correct
court referral workers, but to imediately report any problemto a
Progr am Super vi sor.

On August 10, 1992, appellant ignored this policy. Wile at
the job site, appellant bothered the fermale court referral worker
by urging her several tines to "pick up" and "work harder."
Appel l ant threatened her with a loss of credit for the day. Wen

the worker reported the incident to appellant's supervisor, she
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descri bed appellant as "harassing" or "dogging" her. The court
wor ker was very upset and concerned that she mght not get credit
for the day.

Sonora confirned the court worker's report. Appel | ant
admtted that he may have told the worker that she mght not
receive credit for the day.

Based on the above incidents, the Departnent dismssed
appel | ant, charging him wth inexcusable neglect of duty,
i nsubordi nati on, dishonesty, discourteous treatnent of a co-worker,
willful disobedience, other failure of good behavior causing
di scredit to his enpl oynent and  enpl oyer and unl awf ul
di scrimnation pursuant to Governnent Code section 19572,
subdivisions (d), (e), (f), (m, (o), (t) and (w).

| SSUES

This case presents the follow ng i ssues for discussion:

a) Whet her the incident concerning appellant's alleged
fabrication of a statenment he attributed to his co-worker
constituted sexual harassnent, and,

b) Wat s the appropriate penalty under all t he
ci rcunst ances?

DI SCUSSI ON

The Board initially rejected the ALJ's decision because of

concern that the incident here did not rise to the |level of sexual

harassnment. Sexual harassnent is but one of the causes
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for discipline set out under Governnent Code 8§ 19572, subdi vision
(W which prohibits unlawful discrimnation.? Since sexual
harassnent is not defined in the statute, over the years the Board

has sought guidance in various anal ogous |egislation and case |aw

In the Board's Precedential Decision Robert F. Jenkins (1993)

SPB Dec. No. 93-18, the Board adopted the definition of sexua
harassnment set out in Title VIl of the Gvil R ghts Act of 1964 (42
U S.C. section 2000e et seq.) and construed by the United States
Suprene Court in Meritor Savings Bank v. Vinson (1986) 477 U.S. 57.

In Jenkins, the Board discussed the two categories of sexual
harassnment set out in Title VII.
The first, "quid pro quo" sexual harassnment was defined as:

Unwel cone sexual advances, requests for sexual favors

and ot her verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature
: when 1) submssion to such conduct is nade either
explicitly or inplicitly a term or condition of an
individual's enploynent J[or] 2) submssion to or
rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as
the basis for enploynent decisions affecting such
individual. [ 29 CF. R section 1604.11(a).]

The second category of sexual harassnent is referred to as
"hostil e environnent harassnent” and was acknow edged as a cause of

action in Meritor Savings Bank v. Vinson, supra. Federal EECC

¥ Governnment Code § 19572, subdivision (w prohibits:Unlawf u
discrimnation, including harassnent, on the basis of race,
religious «creed, <color, national origin, ancestry, physica
handi cap, marital status, sex, or age, against the public or other
enpl oyees while acting in the capacity of a state enpl oyee.
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regul ati ons define the hostile environnment theory to include:

Unwel cone sexual advances, requests for sexual favors

and ot her verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature

... when such conduct has the purpose or effect of,

unreasonably interfering wth an individual's work

performance or creating an intimdating, hostile or

of fensive working environnent. [29 C.F.R section

1604. 11(a) . ]

In Jenkins, we also noted that California courts, construing
the prohibition against sexual harassnment set forth in Governnent
Code 8§ 12940 (h), also applied cases decided under Title MII to
det erm ne whet her the harassnent neets the requisite |evel of being
"sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of
enpl oynent or create an abusive working environnent." [Id. at p. 11

quoting Fisher v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital (1985) 214

Cal . App. 3d at 609]. |In argunent before the Board, the Departnent's
representative argued that the federal and state sexual harassnent
standards used to decide enployer liability are too high and should
not be used in determning what constitutes sexual harassnment for
pur poses of discipline. Instead, the Departnent argued that the
Board should neasure the enployee's conduct agai nst t he
Departnent’'s own sexual harassnent policy.

Wiile we agree that an enployer need not delay disciplinary
action until a "wongdoer has so clearly violated the |law that the

victins are sure to prevail in a Title VIl action" [Carosella v.

USP.S (Fed. Gr. 1987) 826 F.2d 638, 643; See also, Rudy Avila
(1994) SPB Dec. No. 94-17], we believe that to
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charge unl awful discrimnation under Governnment Code section 19572,

subdivision (w), an enployer nust prove at a mninmum that the
conduct is "sufficiently severe or pervasive to create an abusive

wor king environnent." [See Howard v. Departnent of the Air Force

(Fed. Gr. 1989) 877 F.2d 952; Rudy Avila, supra.]

This is not to say that an enployer is in any way barred from
taking pronpt, effective action to end the harassnent by discipline
or other nmeans. An enployer is bound to do so. Conduct which may
not neet the mninum standard for a finding of sexual harassnent
may be chargeabl e as cause of discipline as discourteous treatnent
[ Governnment Code 8§ 19572 (m]. If an enployer has a sexual
harassnment policy that sets forth standards of conduct for the
wor kpl ace, and the policy has been properly enacted and
dissemnated to its enployees, conduct that violates the policy
m ght al so be chargeable as w | lful disobedience [ Gvernnent Code §

19572, subdivision (0)].

Unfortunately, Caltran's policy concerning sexual harassnent
at the workplace was not introduced into evidence at the hearing
and cannot be used as a basis for the Board' s decision. Thus, in
this case, we  nust determne whether appellant's conduct
constitutes unlawful discrimnation in the nature of sexua
harassnent and/ or di scourtesy.

The first category of sexual harassnment, quid pro quo, has no

application to the present case. There was no sexual bargain.
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L did not have to submt verbal or physical conduct of a sexua
nature nor did appellant have or claimpower to provide or wthhold
any benefits of enpl oynent.

The second category is nore relevant. The offensive coment
made by appellant has the potential effect of unreasonably
interfering with L's work performance or creating an intimdating,
hostile or offensive working environnent for her. However, the
Departnent did not prove this. The only statenent in the record
whi ch indicates how the comment affected L was her statenent that
now she can't trust anyone. FromL's testinony, her |ack of trust
appears to arise as nuch fromher inability to discern who nade the
offensive statenent as from the statenent itself. There was no
showing that the coment altered in any way L's conditions of
enpl oyment or created an abusive working environnent.* Thus, based
on the facts presented at the admnistrative hearing, we do not
find sufficient evidence that appellant's conduct constituted
unlawful discrimnation in the nature of sexual harassnent.

D scourt esy

Although we fail to find appellant's actions constituted
unlawful discrimnation, we do agree wth the ALJ that the

fabrication of offensive statenents such as those appel | ant

* Although not exanined at the hearing, the coment attributed
to Sonora has the potential for <creating a hostile working
environnment, not only for L, but for Sonora as well.
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attributed to Sonora constitutes cause for discipline as
di scourteous treatnent of other enployees under Governnent Code
section 19572 (n). Sexually explicit statenents of this sort are
clearly outside the normal dictates of civilized behavi or.

O her Char ges

Fabri cating statenents and fal sely attributing t hese
statenents to a co-worker constitutes cause for discipline as
di shonesty under Governnent Code 8§ 19572, subdivision (f).

In addition, appellant's failure to follow his supervisor's
instruction to assist Sonora, by l|loading and packing bushes,
constitutes an inexcusable neglect of duty and willful disobedience
under Covernment Code 8§ 19572, subdivisions (d) and (o).
Appel lant's responsibility on August 10, was to operate the packer
truck, not to polish and paint the truck.

Finally, we find that appellant's treatnment of the court
referral worker was discourteous treatnment of the public as
prohibited by CGovernment Code 8§ 19572, subdivision (nm).
Appellant's actions were unreasonably harassing and intim dating.

W do not find cause for discipline for insubordination or
ot her failure of good behavior.

Penal ty

When performng its constitutional responsibility to review

disciplinary actions [Cal. Const. Art. VI, section 3(a)], the

Board is charged with rendering a decision which, in its judgnent
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is "just and proper". [ Gover nment Code 8§ 19582. ] I n determning
what is a "just and proper" penalty for a particular offense, the

Board has broad discretion. [See Wlie v. State Personnel Board

(1949) 93 Cal . App.2d 838.] The Board's discretion, however, is not
unlimted. Wile the Board considers a nunber of factors it deens
relevant in assessing the propriety of the inposed discipline,
anong the factors the Board nust consider are those specifically

identified by the Court in Skelly v. State Personnel Board (Skelly)

(1975) 15 Cal.3d 194 as fol |l ows:

...[We note that the overriding consideration in these

cases is the extent to which the enployee's conduct

resulted in, or if repeated is likely to result in

[h]arm to the public service. (Gtations.) O her

relevant factors include the circunstances surrounding

the msconduct and the likelihood of its recurrence.

[1d. at 218].

In this case, appellant's conduct was harnful to a fenmale co-
wor ker who, as a result of appellant's actions, nonths later still
testified to uncertainty about the incident. Appellant also sought
purposely to harm a co-worker by discrediting him and schemng to
undermne this co-worker's relationship with the other crew nenbers
and the crew supervisor. The harm to the public service is
inherent in conduct which destroys the cohesiveness of working
gr oups.

The circunstances surrounding this msconduct do not require
mtigation of the penalty of dismssal. Appellant is a short term

enpl oyee who sought by purposeful design to discredit his
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co-worker and replace him in his supervisor's good graces. The
means chosen, falsely attributing a highly offensive statenent to
an enpl oyee who was off work, denonstrate a nmalicious mnd, as do
the statenents thensel ves. The public service has no place for
such an i ndi vi dual .

CONCLUSI ON

For all of the reasons set forth above, the Board finds cause
for disciplining appellant for dishonesty and discourteous
treatnent of other enployees under CGovernnent Code section 19572,
subdivisions (f) and (m in connection with sexually explicit
statenents fabricated by appellant and di shonestly attributed to a
fell ow worker.

W find that appellant's failure to follow his supervisor's
instruction in the packer truck incident constituted inexcusable
negl ect of duty and willful disobedience in violation of Governnent
Code § 19572, subdivisions (d) and (0). In addition, we find that
appel lant's treatnent of the court referral worker
was di scourteous treatnent in violation of Governnent Code
§ 19572, subdivision (n).

The penalty of dismssal is sustained.

ORDER

Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of |aw,

and the entire record in this case, it is hereby CORDERED t hat:

1. The above-referenced action of the Departnent of
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Transportation di smssing appellant Jose L. Flores is sustained.

2. This opinion is certified for publication as a
Precedenti al Decision (Government Code § 19582.5).
THE STATE PERSONNEL BQARD
Ri chard Carpenter, President
Lorrie VWard, Vice President
Alice Stoner, Menber

Fl oss Bos, Menber
Alfred R Villal obos, Mnber

| hereby certify that the State Personnel Board made and
adopted the foregoing Decision and Order at its neeting on
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